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Bef ore GARWOOD, DAVIS and SMTH, Ci rcuit Judges.
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

These appeals, consolidated for purposes of oral argunent,
arise from the kidnapping and subsequent sexual abuse of Deanna
Mari e Caveny (Caveny). Defendants-appellants Duane Al bert Anderson
(Anderson) and Mark Charles Barnett, a/k/a Neil Thomas Hanley
(Barnett), challenge the sentences inposed follow ng the entry of
their pleas of guilty to the federal kidnapping offense. Anderson
contends that the district court erred in calculating his base
of fense | evel for kidnapping by allegedly counting the ki dnapping
offense twice, first by relying on the kidnapping guideline, and
second by referring to the sexual abuse guideline and enhancing
t hat base offense | evel for abduction of the sexual abuse victim
Barnett al so challenges the reference to the sexual abuse gui deline
in calculating his kidnapping offense |evel, arguing, inter alia,
that the sexual abuse commtted was a state, and not federal
of fense and therefore could not be "another offense" under the
federal sentencing guidelines. Finally, defendants assert that the
district court abused its discretion in departing upward fromthe
resulting guideline range on the grounds that Caveny suffered
extrenme psychol ogical injury and that the defendants' actions were
unusual ly heinous and cruel. Finding no reversible error and no
abuse of discretion, we affirm

Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

On April 7, 1992, Anderson and Barnett forcibly abducted

Caveny, a 29-year-old mathematics professor, fromthe parking | ot

of a |l aundromat near her apartnent in Charleston, South Carolina.



Ander son sei zed her and attenpted to force her into her autonobil e,
a maroon 1981 Chevrolet Ctation; Barnett assisted himby opening
the door of the vehicle. Followng a brief struggle, Caveny
surrendered her car keys to Anderson. After the defendants subdued
Caveny and got into the car with her, Barnett drove to a nearby
shoppi ng center parking | ot where he used Caveny's automatic teller
card to obtai n approxi mately $200 froman automatic tell er machi ne.

Wth Barnett driving and Anderson in the back seat wth
Caveny, the trio travel ed toward Al abama. Several hours after the
abduction, Anderson raped Caveny in the rear seat of her car.
During the drive to Al abanma, Anderson raped her two or three
additional tinmes. Anderson also subjected Caveny to anal sex and
demanded that she performoral sex upon him Over the course of
t he ki dnapping ordeal, Anderson and Barnett threatened to kil
Caveny and told her about other people they had killed or planned
to kill; they proposed getting rid of any evi dence agai nst t hem by
burni ng her body and her car.

During the night, the defendants stopped at a notel in
Bessener, Al abama. Barnett registered in the nane of Neil Hanl ey.
The manager of the hotel renmenbered that Barnett did not know the
i cense nunber of the vehicle he was driving and that he went
outside to the car to obtain that information. Barnett told the
manager there woul d be two persons in the room but the manager saw
only Barnett. In the notel room Anderson raped Caveny at | east

tw ce. Caveny attenpted to get help by | eaving nessages torn from



soap wappers in the notel room?!?

On the norning of April 8, the defendants drove Caveny to
Meri di an, M ssissippi. Wen Barnett stopped at a conveni ence store
to buy food, Caveny was able to get out of the car and obtain help
at a nearby store. According to a presentence investigation report
(PSI) prepared by the United States Probation Ofice, Anderson
"followed" her from the car and was subsequently arrested.?
Barnett drove off in Caveny's car and was not apprehended unti
April 10, 1992, when he was arrested for trespassing by the
Ol ando, Florida Police Departnent, and a background check reveal ed
that Barnett was wanted by federal authorities in connection with
t he Caveny ki dnappi ng.

A grand jury indicted Anderson and Barnett in a two-count
indictment charging that defendants (1) kidnapped Caveny and
intentionally transported her in interstate comerce from
Charl eston, South Carolina, to Meridian, Mssissippi, in violation
of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1201(a)(1); and (2) unlawfully transported a stol en
notor vehicle in interstate commerce, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§

2312. Anderson and Barnett were also charged with aiding and

. During the stay in the notel room Caveny was allowed to
shower. Using the wapper froma bar of soap, she tore the
printed letters H E, L, and P and arranged these letters behind
the toilet, hoping soneone who could aid her would find them
Caveny al so conceal ed a pair of bloody underwear in the bed
clothing. Federal agents |ater recovered both the letters and

t he under wear.

2 A di spute arose at Anderson's sentencing hearing over

whet her, when Anderson "foll owed" Caveny fromthe vehicle, he was
aiding Caveny in leaving the car and calling the police or
chasing her to prevent her escape. Anderson nmakes no conpl ai nt
on appeal respecting any matter related to this dispute.
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abetting each other in the conmm ssion of both charged offenses, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2. Both defendants pleaded guilty to the
ki dnapping count in return for dismssal of the notor vehicle
char ge.

PSIs were prepared for Anderson and Barnett, using the 1991
edition of the Sentencing Cuidelines. The PSIs began cal cul ati ons
of the defendants' offense levels with the kidnappi ng guideline,
US. S G 8 2A4.1, which carries a base offense |evel of 24.
US. S G § 2A4.1(a). The Sentencing Comm ssion recognized the
possibility that a kidnapping victimmght be sexually exploited
during the kidnapping offense and provided a 3-level increase, to
level 27, in such an event. US S G § 2A4.1(b)(5). The
ki dnappi ng gui del i ne goes on to further provide, however, that if
"anot her offense" (unspecified by the guidelines) was commtted
during the kidnapping, the sentencing court should increase the
of fense level to the level applicable to the other offense if the

resulting offense level is higher. US S .G 8§ 2A4.1(b)(7).% The

3 Section 2A4.1(b)(7) provides:

"[1]f another offense was commtted during the
ki dnappi ng, abduction, or unlawful restraint, increase
to

(A) the offense level fromthe Chapter Two

of fense guideline applicable to that other offense
i f such offense guideline includes an adj ust nent
for ki dnappi ng, abduction, or unlawful restraint,
or otherw se takes such conduct into account; or

(B) 4 plus the offense |level fromthe offense
gui deline applicable to that other offense,
but in no event greater than level 43, in any
ot her case,

if the resulting offense level is greater than that

5



PSIs then referred to section 2A3.1, the guideline for crimnal
sexual abuse. This section establishes a base offense | evel of 27
and all ows an enhancenment of 4 levels, to level 31, if the victim
of the sexual abuse was abduct ed. US S.G 8 2A3.1(b)(5). The
PSI s cal cul ated the defendants' offense |levels to be 31, the |evel
reached by reference to the sexual abuse guideline, because that
| evel was greater than the | evel 27 resulting under the ki dnapping
guideline. The PSlIs credited both defendants with acceptance of
responsibility, pursuant to U S.S.G § 3El.1(a), and bestowed on
them a 2-level reduction, yielding net total offense levels for
each of 29. Finally, the PSIs noted that anple justification
existed for the district court to nmake an upward departure, based
on circunstances not otherwise taken into account by the
gui deli nes, such as the psychological injury to Caveny and the
def endants' extrene conduct. U. S.S. G 88 5K2.0, 5K2.3, and 5K2. 8.

Ander son and Barnett both objected to their PSIs on the ground
that the enhancenent of the sexual abuse guideline for abduction,
when they were convicted of abduction, was essentially a double
counting of the kidnapping offense and therefore violated the
prohi bi ti on agai nst doubl e j eopardy.

The district court deni ed def endants' objections and sent enced
them according to the recommendations of the PSlIs, using the
offense levels of 29 reached by reference to the sexual abuse
guideline, with a credit for acceptance of responsibility. The

court departed upward by 4 levels, for total offense | evels of 33,

det er m ned above."



on the bases of the extrene psychol ogi cal harmsustai ned by Caveny
and the extrene conduct exhi bited by Anderson and Barnett.

Anderson's crimnal history category of I1l, with an offense
| evel of 33, yielded a sentencing range of 168 to 210 nonths. The
district court sentenced himto 200 nonths inprisonnent, followed
by 5 years supervised release. Barnett, with a crimnal history
category of V and an offense | evel of 33, faced a sentencing range
of 210 to 262 nonths. He received a term of 240 nonths
i nprisonnment and 5 years supervised rel ease.

On appeal, Anderson and Barnett chall enge the cal cul ati on of
their offense levels and the district court's upward departure.

Di scussi on

Appl i cation of the Kidnappi ng Quideline

W will uphold a sentence inposed pursuant to the guidelines
unless it is inposed in violation of law, is the result of
incorrect application of the guidelines, or is an unreasonable
departure from the applicable guideline range. 18 U S C 8
3742(e); United States v. Buenrostro, 868 F.2d 135, 139 (5th Cr.
1989), cert. denied, 110 S . C. 1957 (1990). W review
determ nations of |egal principles de novo and factual findings for
clear error. United States v. Murning, 914 F.2d 699, 704 (5th
Cir. 1990).

A Anderson's cl ai ns

In sentencing the defendants, the district court began with
the ki dnapping guideline, section 2A4.1, with its base offense
| evel of 24. Next, as directed by section 2A4.1(b)(7), the court

referred to the crimnal sexual abuse guideline, section 2A3.1,



which carries a base offense |evel of 27. Finally, the court
enhanced the sexual abuse offense level for abduction of the
victim reaching an offense | evel (before any departure) of 31.

Ander son does not argue that the district court inproperly
turned to section 2A3.1 from section 2A4.1(b)(7). | nstead, he
conplains that it was error for the district court to enhance the
sexual abuse base offense |evel for the abduction of the victim
reasoning that the court already took the kidnapping offense into
consideration when it began its calculations with section 2A4.1,
t he ki dnapping guideline. O the 3 offense | evels considered,* he
clains that the original level 24 and the final |evel 31 were each
puni shment for the kidnapping offense. This, he contends,
constitutes i nperm ssi bl e doubl e counting. Anderson nmai ntains that
the proper result would be to conpare the base offense | evels for
t he ki dnappi ng and sexual abuse gui delines and choose the higher,
W t hout enhanci ng t hose | evel s for specific of f ense
characteristics. Under this theory, Anderson would have a base
of fense | evel of 27, the base offense level for crimnal sexua
abuse, as that |level is higher than the base offense |evel of 24
for ki dnappi ng.

Anderson ignores the clear direction of the guidelines, which
expressly provide that an entire guideline shall be applied upon

reference from anot her gui deli ne:

4 The 3 offense levels alluded to by Anderson are (1) |evel
24, the base offense | evel under the kidnapping guideline; (2)
| evel 27, the base offense | evel under the sexual abuse
guideline; and (3) level 31, the offense | evel reached after
enhancenent of the sexual abuse offense |evel for abduction of
the victim



"Unl ess otherwi se expressly indicated, a reference to
another guideline, or an instruction to apply another

guideline, referstothe entire guideline, i.e., the base
offense level plus all applicable specific offense
characteristics and cross references.” U S. S. G § 1B1.5.

(Enphasi s added).

The commentary to section 1Bl1.5 directs the court to use the
greater final offense level when directed to apply another
guideline if it results in a greater offense level, even to the
poi nt of including any applicable Chapter Three adjustnents. Id.,
coment. (n.3). See also United States v. Gall oway, 963 F. 2d 1388,
1392 (10th Gr.), cert. denied, 113 S.C. 418 (1992) (enhancenent
of crim nal sexual abuse offense | evel for abduction of victimdid
not constitute cunul ative puni shnent of def endant convicted of, and
sentenced for, kidnapping).

Prior decisions of this Crcuit and others denonstrate that
the district court followed the correct procedure in calculating
Anderson's offense |evel under the kidnapping guideline. We
approved the application of the "other of fense" guideline pursuant
to the section-swtching provision of the kidnapping guideline in
United States v. Jackson, 978 F.2d 903, 913 (5th Gr. 1992), cert.
denied, 113 S. C. 2429 (1993). In that case, the district court
sentenced t he defendants, who were convicted of kidnapping, under
the guideline for mnurder followng the direction of section
2A4.1(b)(5),° which provided that if the result of applying the
ki dnappi ng gui deline were | ess than that resulting fromapplication

of another offense, the guideline for the other offense should be

5 The defendants in Jackson were sentenced under the 1990
version of the guidelines, in which the provision now contained
in section 2A4.1(b)(7) was included in section 2A4.1(b)(5).
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appl i ed. Jackson, 978 F.2d at 913. See also United States v.
Rocha, 916 F.2d 219, 242-244 (5th Gr. 1990), cert. denied, 111
S.Ct. 2057 (1991) (affirm ng enhancenent of ki dnappi ng gui deline on
basis of extortion); United States v. DePew, 932 F. 2d 324, 329 (4th
Cr.), cert. denied, 112 S.C. 210 (1991) (affirm ng use of nurder
of fense | evel).

Al t hough we have not previously applied section 2A4.1(b)(7) in
t he context of crim nal sexual abuse, the Third and Tenth Circuits
have affirnmed the use of section 2A3.1 to enhance a sentence for
ki dnappi ng. See United States v. Pollard, 986 F.2d 44, 47 (3rd
Cr.), cert. denied, 113 S . C. 2457 (1993); United States .
Gal | oway, 963 F.2d at 1391-1392. These deci sions denonstrate the
correctness of the district court's actions in calculating the
defendants' total offense |evels.

B. Barnett's clains

Barnett contends that the district court erred in not making
a factual determ nation that his actions constituted the crine of
sexual abuse before enhanci ng t he ki dnappi ng of fense for the sexual

abuse.® He proposes two different reasons why he should not be

6 In his briefs on appeal, Barnett does not oppose the

techni cal application of section 2A4.1(b)(7), wth its reference
to section 2A3.1. At oral argunent, however, counsel for Barnett
chal l enged the district court's use of section 2A4.1(b)(7), and
by reference section 2A3.1, on the ground that an enhancenent for
sexual exploitation of a kidnapping victimis already provided in
section 2A4.1(b)(5). |If the crimnal sexual abuse guideline
woul d al ways provide a higher offense | evel than that reached
under the kidnapping guideline, he argues, the three-|evel
enhancenent of section 2A4.1(b)(5) would be superfluous. This
argunent, even had it been tinely raised, is unavailing. The

gui deli nes expressly contenplate that the effect of sexual abuse
of a kidnapping victimis not limted to the three-level increase
provi ded by 8 2A4.1(b)(5), but could be cal cul ated as "anot her
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hel d responsi ble for the sexual abuse.

First, in his original brief, as before the district court,
Barnett focuses on his contention that he did not personally commt
any sexual offense, and that it was his codefendant Anderson who
sexual |y assaulted Caveny. Barnett argues that he only drove the
car, and that, because he was driving through heavy fog with the
car radio turned up, he was "virtually unaware" of what was
transpiring between Anderson and Caveny in the back seat of the
car. He also clains that he was in the shower when Anderson
sexual ly assaulted Caveny in the notel room As a result, he
mai nt ai ns, he could be held accountable for auto theft but not for
sexual abuse.

This argunent |acks nerit. The district court sentenced
Barnett for the kidnapping of Caveny, not for the sexual abuse

whi ch occurred.” The court considered the effect of the sexua

of fense" under section 2A4.1(b)(7) by reference to section 2A3. 1.
The background conmmentary expl ai ning section 2A4. 1(b)(7) uses
crim nal sexual abuse, section 2A3.1, as an exanple of "another
of fense" for purposes of referral to another guideline. U S S G
8§ 2A4.1, comment. (backg'd) (1991).

In addition, Barnett's concern, that section 2A4.1(b)(5) is
made superfluous if section 2A4.1(b)(7) provides enhancenent for
sexual abuse of a kidnapping victim is msplaced. The base
of fense | evel of 27 provided in section 2A3.1 governs sexual
conduct in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 2241 and 2242. (O her sexual
of fenses which could be the object of section 2A4.1(b)(7)'s
reference to "another offense"” pertain to guidelines with nuch
| onwer offense |levels than section 2A4.1. See, e.g., US S G 8§
2A3.2 (crimnal sexual abuse of a mnor, based on violation of 18
U S C 8§ 2243(a): base offense level 15); U S S. G § 2A3.3
(crimnal sexual abuse of a ward, based on violation of 18 U S. C
8§ 2243(b): base offense level 9); U S S. G 8§ 2A3.4 (abusive
sexual contact, based on violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
2244(a)(1),(2),(3): base offense levels of 16, 12, 10).

! That Barnett may have admtted to aiding and abetting
Anderson's sexual offenses does not change the fact that the
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abuse only as a specific offense characteristic of the ki dnapping
of f ense. Specific offense characteristics, unless otherw se
specified, are determ ned on the basis of rel evant conduct and are
not limted to stipulations nmade by a defendant entering a plea
bar gai n. US S G § 1B1.3(a). There is anple evidence in the
record on appeal to support the district court's treatnent of the
sexual abuse of Caveny as conduct relevant to Barnett's ki dnappi ng
of fense. 8

Barnett was charged with, and pleaded guilty to, aiding and
abetting Anderson in the kidnapping of Caveny. At his plea
hearing, the governnent presented the factual basis for the plea.
This summary of the events underlying the charges brought agai nst
Barnett contained references to the sexual assaults of Caveny.
Barnett agreed with the entire factual schene as presented by the
gover nnent and assured the district court, upon cl ose questioning,
that he understood the inplications of the aiding and abetting

charge against himand that he did not contest it.® Although it is

district court applied the kidnapping guideline, not the crimnal
sexual abuse guideline. The court's reference to section 2A3.1
was at the direction of, and in application of, section

2A4. 1(b) (7).

8 The district court was clearly not required to credit
Barnett's claimthat he was unaware of what was goi ng on over the
course of two days between the other two occupants of the sane
vehicl e and notel roomwhen that activity involved at |east seven
sexual assaults.

o The follow ng discussion occurred at the plea hearing:

"Q [By the court] Now, you are also charged with the
violation of Section 2 of Title 18. This is the aider
and abetter statute. And it says that whoever conmmts
an of fense against the United States or aids, abets,
counsel s, demands, induces or procures it's [sic]

12



undi sputed that Barnett did not personally sexually abuse Caveny
during the ki dnappi ng offense, he is |iable as an ai der and abetter
for the relevant conduct of Anderson. The district court could
properly consider the effect of Anderson's sexual offenses in
sentenci ng Barnett.

Barnett raised his second challenge to the cal cul ation of his
offense level in his reply brief in this Court. He cl ains that
enhancenent of his kidnapping offense on the basis of the sexual
abuse of Caveny was inproper because he could not have been
convicted of the federal crine of sexual abuse or aggravated sexual
abuse.® This challenge is untinely. W wll not consider issues
raised for the first tine in an appellant's reply brief. United
States v. Cinical Leasing Service, Inc., 982 F.2d 900, 902 n. 4

(5th Gr. 1992). Because this issue is not properly before us, we

comm ssion is punishable as a principal. . . . Do you
under stand what the aider and abetter statute provides?
A Yes, | do, sir.

Q And do you understand how it figures into this

matter?

A. Yes, | do.

Q It says that if you aided and abetted soneone el se
who was in the mdst of -- who was in the course of

commtting the crinme charged in Count 1 (the kidnapping
charge), that nmakes you guilty. Do you understand

t hat ?

A Yes, | do.

Q It neans that you are not there by accident or you
didn't do sone acts that |ead to the comm ssion of the
crime in assisting sonebody by accident or m stake or

m sunder st andi ng, but that you know ngly did sonet hing
towards the conm ssion of a crinme. Do you understand

t hat ?

A Yes. "

10 Al t hough this argunent applies equally to Anderson, he has
not raised it either before the district court or on appeal and
has thus waived it.
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do not consider the question of whether there was sufficient
evidence for the district court to conclude that the sexual
assaults of Caveny constituted an offense under the state | aws of
South Carolina or Al abama, the states in which the sexual abuse
occurred. We observe that neither defendant has ever denied that
t he sexual abuse occurred, nor did they argue before the district
court that Anderson's conduct did not anpbunt to a sexual offense.
Nor have either ever contended, here or below, that Anderson's
conduct did not anpbunt to rape or other simlar sexual offense
under the laws of South Carolina or Al abana.

Even were we to address this issue, we would not agree wth
Barnett's position. Barnett's reading of the crimnal statute is
correct,' but he overlooks the interpretation that courts,
i ncl udi ng our own, have given section 2A4.1(b)(7)'s reference to

"anot her offense,"” aninterpretation whichis confirned by recently
proposed anendnents to section 2A4. 1.

The guidelines do not define "another offense" as used in
section 2A4.1 and ot her section-switching guidelines. Nothing in
the commentary to those sections suggests that the termis limted
to violations of federal law. The Sentencing Conmm ssion's May 8,

1993, proposed anendnent to the commentary to section 2A4.1

confirnms that it intended the |anguage of section 2A4.1(b)(7) to

1 For sexual abuse to constitute a federal offense, it nust be
commtted "in the special maritine and territorial jurisdiction
of the United States or in a Federal prison. . . ." 18 U S C

88 2241 (aggravated sexual abuse) and 2242 (sexual abuse).
Because Anderson's sexual abuse of Caveny did not occur within
federal jurisdiction, neither Anderson nor Barnett could have
been charged with crim nal sexual abuse in a federal court.
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include state and local, as well as federal, offenses. The
amendnent, scheduled to be effective Novenber 1, 1993, and as of
this witing under review by Congress, replaces the commentary's
reference to "another offense” with the phrase "another federal,
state, or local offense that results in a greater offense |eve
(subsections (b)(7) and (c)(1))." 58 Fed.Reg. 27150 (1993)
(proposed May 8, 1993). The Comm ssion explains that "[t]his
amendnent clarifies that the references to "other offense' and
“anot her offense' in Section 2A4.1(b)(7) . . . refer to federal
state, or local offenses." 1d.

Were this anmendnent already in effect, it would be binding.
"[Comentary in the CGuidelines Manual that interprets or explains
aguidelineis authoritative unless it violates the Constitution or
a federal statute, or is inconsistent with, or a plainly erroneous
reading of, that guideline." Stinson v. United States, 113 S. C
1913, 1915 (1993). Further, the anmendnent woul d apply to Barnett's
sentence, even though he was sentenced under an earlier version of
the guidelines. Anmendnents to the guidelines and their comentary
intended only to clarify, rather than effect substantive changes,
may be considered even if not effective at the time of the
comm ssion of the offense or at the tine of sentencing. U S S G

§ 1B1.11(b)(2) (1992);' United States v. Evbuomwan, 992 F.2d 70,

12 Section 1.B.11(b)(2) provides in relevant part that :
if a court applies an earlier edition of the CQuidelines Nhnual
the Court shall consider subsequent anendnents, to the extent
that such anendnents are clarifying rather than substantive
changes." Defendants were sentenced in Septenber and Cctober
1992 under the 1991 version of the guidelines. Although section
1B1. 11 was not added until the Novenber 1, 1992, version,
clarifying anmendnents nmay still be applied in cases deci ded under
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74 n.1 (5th Cr. 1993); United States v. Aguil era-Zapata, 901 F. 2d
1209, 1213 (5th Gr. 1990).

Al t hough the anmendnent is not controlling, we consider it as
evidence of the Sentencing Commi ssion's intent behind section
2A4.1(b)(7). See United States v. Byrd, 995 F.2d 536, 539-540 n. 3
(4th Gr. 1993) (addressing proposed 1993 anendnents to commentary
to U.S.S.G § 4Al.2).

Moreover, the clarification proposed by the Commssion is
consistent with previous applications of section 2A4.1(b)(7) in
whi ch courts enhanced the kidnapping guideline by application of
ot her offense guidelines, wthout consideration of the federa
jurisdictional grounds for the other offense. In United States v.
Jackson, we upheld the application of the guideline for nurder in
sentenci ng a defendant convicted of ki dnapping w thout discussion
of whether a basis for federal jurisdiction over the nurder
exi sted.®® Jackson, 978 F.2d at 913-914. I n Jackson, we cited
Galloway wth approval. Gal |l owmay concerned the sexual abuse

guideline, but the issue of the lack of federal jurisdiction

the 1991 version, because 1Bl1.11 was nerely a reiteration of the
Sent enci ng Conm ssion's position on clarifying anendnents. See
United States v. Aguil era-Zapata, 901 F.2d 1209, 1213-1214 (5th
Cr. 1990) (applying 1989 anmendnent retroactively to sentencing
for offense conmtted prior to effective date on grounds that
anmendnent was intended only to clarify guideline application
note) (relying on United States v. Wiite, 875 F.2d 427, 433 (4th
Cir. 1989) (opinion by Judge WIkins, Chairman of the United
States Sent enci ng Conmm ssion)).

13 Unli ke the sexual abuse in the present case, the nmurder in
Jackson was a federal offense because it occurred in the course
of a kidnapping. 18 U S.C 8§ 1111. This was not, however, the
basis for our allowing the application of the nurder guideline in
sentenci ng the Jackson def endants.

16



apparently was not raised. Neither the court in Galloway nor our
court in Jackson expressly addressed the possibility that the | ack
of federal jurisdiction over the "other of fense" had any bearing on
the application of the section-switching provision of section
2A4.1(b) (7).

In United States v. Perez, 897 F.2d 751 (5th Cr.), cert.
denied, 111 S. . 117 (1990), we approved an upwards adj ustnent
based on application of the aggravated assault guideline for a
defendant who was convicted of several firearns possession
of f enses. US SG 8§ 2K2.1(c)(1), the applicable firearns
gui deline, allows application of other offense guidelines where a
def endant used or possessed a firearm in connection wth the
comm ssion of another offense. In Perez, we relied on the
comentary to section 2K2.1(c)(1) (1990) which expressly
contenpl ated that a sentencing court would use state offenses to

enhance a firearns offense level. This comentary was omtted in

14 The Third Circuit has rejected a contention sinmlar to
Barnett's on the ground that federal jurisdiction over offense
conduct serves to allow the sentencing court to consider al

rel evant conduct without regard to jurisdictional basis. United
States v. Pollard, 986 F.2d 44, 47 (3rd Cr.), cert. denied, 113
S.C. 2457 (1993). In Pollard, the defendant |ured young boys
fromNew York City to an apartnment in New Jersey where he
sexual ly assaulted them As in the present case, the district
court sentenced the defendant under section 2A4.1, cal cul ating
the defendant's offense |level by reference to section 2A3.1. The
def endant argued that the reference to the crimnal sexual abuse
section was i nproper because he could not have been convicted in
federal court of that crinme. The Third Grcuit disagreed,
hol di ng that once a jurisdictional basis had been established
over the kidnappings, all relevant conduct could be considered in
calculating his sentence. 986 F.2d at 47. Treating the sexual
abuse as rel evant conduct, the court stated that it made "no
difference" that the district court |lacked jurisdiction to try
himfor it. 1d
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the 1991 gui delines under which Barnett was sentenced. However,
there is nothing in the wordi ng, structure, context, or history of
the 1991 anmendnent (which wholly del eted sections 2K2. 1, 2K2.2, and
2K2.3 and their comentary and replaced them with a new section
2K2. 1 and commentary) to suggest that the om ssion was intended as
a repudiation of this aspect of the fornmer commentary (the new
comentary to the new section 2K2.1 sinply does not address this
matter). See 1991 Cuidelines Manual 8§ 2K2.1 and commentary and
Appendi x C, anendnment No. 374. That this om ssion was not an
inplied repudiation of that aspect of the comentary al so seens
evident in the 1993 proposed anendnents to the guidelines.
Submtted with the proposed 1993 anendnent to the section 2A4.1
commentary are simlar proposed changes to the section 2K2.1
comentary. These changes wll clarify that "another offense" of
section 2K2. 1 refers to federal, state, and | ocal offenses. See 58
Fed. Reg. 27150 (1993) (proposed May 8, 1993).

The district court did not err in considering the sexual abuse
as "anot her offense" for purposes of calculating Barnett's of fense
| evel under the kidnappi ng guideline.

1. Upward Departure

When the district court departs fromthe guideline range, the
departure nust be reasonable, and the court nust offer reasons
justifying the departure in terns of the policies underlying the
sent enci ng gui del i nes. United States v. Mejia-Orosco, 867 F.2d
216, 221 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 109 S.C. 3257 (1989). A
departure is within the discretion of the sentencing court. United

States v. |hegworo, 959 F.2d 26, 28 (5th Gr. 1992). A departure
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based on circunstances already adequately considered by the
guidelines is an incorrect application of the guidelines. WIIians
v. United States, 112 S.C. 1112, 1119 (1992).

In sentencing Anderson and Barnett, the district court
departed upward, raising the defendants' total offense |evels by
four points.?® Gounds for the court's departure include: (1) that
t here exi sted circunstances not already taken i nto consi derati on by
the guidelines; (2) that Caveny had suffered extrene psychol ogi cal
harm and (3) that the defendants had exhi bited unusually hei nous
conduct .

The district court's stated reasons for departure are as
fol |l ows:

"[B] ased on CGuideline Section[s] 5K2.0, 5K2.3 and 5K2. 8,

the Court finds that an upward departure in this case is

called for. The Court notes that there exist[]

aggravating or mtigating circunstances of a kind or a

degree not adequately taken into consideration by the

sentenci ng conm ssionin fornulating the guidelines. The
victim has suffered extrene psychol ogical injury. Her
behavi or patterns have been altered and the victim
suffered gratuitous infliction of injury and prol onged
humliation. Additionally, the Court is convinced that

t he gui del i nes herein do not take i nto account the nunber

and nature of the repeated sexual abuses i nposed upon the

victimhere. Therefore, a four |level upward departure

will be nade. "1

The guidelines allow departures from applicable sentencing

ranges

15 Def endants chal | enge the grounds for, not the extent of, the
departure. W note that the sentences inposed by the district
court were well within the statutory range of punishnment for

ki dnappi ng of fenses, which is "inprisonnent for any termof years
or for life." 18 U S.C. § 1201(a).

16 The quoted | anguage is taken fromthe transcript of
Barnett's sentencing hearing. The district court gave the sane
reasons for departing upward in sentenci ng Anderson
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"[ulnder 18 U.S.C. 8§ 3553(b) . . . if the [sentencing]

court finds “that there exists an aggravating or

mtigating circunstance of a kind, or to a degree, not

adequately taken into consideration by the Sentencing

Comm ssion in formulating the guidelines that should

result in a sentence different from that described.'"

US S G 8§ 5K2.0, p.s.

Anderson asserts that the guidelines already take his conduct SQ
ki dnappi ng and sexual abuse SQ into consideration and that
therefore the district court should not have departed from the
gui del i ne range. The district court found, however, that the
gui del i nes had not adequately taken into consideration either the
nunber (at |east seven) or the nature (including forced anal and
oral sex) of the sexual abuse. This finding, which we hold not to
be clearly erroneous, supports the court's initial decision to
depart under section 5K2.0.

In addition to the general grounds of section 5K2.0, the
district court found cause to depart upward in the psychol ogi ca
harm suffered by Caveny as a result of her ordeal. The guidelines
allow upward departure "[i]f a wvictim or victins suffered
psychol ogi cal injury nmuch nore serious than that normally resulting
fromcomm ssion of the offense . . . ." US S G 8§ 5K2.3, p.s. 1In
such an instance, "[t]he extent of the increase ordinarily should
depend on the severity of the psychological injury and the extent
to which the injury was intended or know ngly risked." | d. A
psychol ogical injury is sufficiently severe where there exists (1)
a substantial inpairnent of the intellectual, psychol ogical,
enotional, or behavioral functioning of a victim (2) which is of

an extended or continuous duration, and (3) which manifests itself

by physical or psychol ogical synptons or by changes in behavior
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patterns. |d.

In determning the psychological effect on Caveny, the
district court relied on a letter, quoted in its entirety in the
victim inpact section of the PSIs prepared for defendants'
sentenci ngs, in which Caveny described her ordeal and its effects
on her life. Caveny feared for her |ife throughout the ki dnappi ng.
Anderson and Barnett threatened to kill her and told her stories of
ot her people they had killed or planned to kill. They nade cl ear
to her that they needed to di spose of her because she was the only
evi dence agai nst them Anderson told Caveny that they would burn
her car and her body to destroy any evidence. After her escape and
bef ore Barnett was apprehended by the Florida police, Caveny feared
that Barnett would know that she had "snitched" to the police and
would try to find her to seek revenge on her and her famly.
Anderson had told her that Barnett was planning to return to

n >

Florida to take care of soneone' who had "snitched on them'"
According to her letter, the kidnapping had a profound effect on
Caveny's daily life. Caveny and her husband have noved to a new
apartnent. She is reluctant to | eave the apartnent by herself or
to be alone at hone; she checks every room and closet in her
apartnent and experiences fears of people hiding in the trees near
her apartnent. She no longer feels safe, even within her own
apartnent; she carries mace with her at all tines and has installed
extra | ocks on her wi ndows and doors. She has | ost her feelings of
confidence, trust, and independence. She fears the tinme when

Anderson and Barnett will eventually be rel eased from prison.

Anderson and Barnett claim that any psychological injury
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suffered by Caveny did not neet the section 5K2.3 standard and was
insufficient to support an upwards departure. |In addition, they
contend that Caveny's letter is insufficient evidence of the
psychol ogi cal effects of the kidnapping ordeal and that departure
was unwarrant ed because the governnent failed to produce testinony
froma counsel or or psychol ogi st that Caveny's condition requires
medi cation or therapy or otherwise neets the section 5K2.3
st andar d.

Anderson relies on United States v. Fawbush, 946 F.2d 584, 586
(8th Gr. 1991). In that case, the E ghth GCrcuit found
i nsufficient to support a section 5K2.3 departure the
unsubst anti at ed opi ni on of the probation officer and the fact that
the victim was receiving counseling. The court acknow edged,
however, that it mght have reached a different result if the
district court's reasons had been substanti ated. Fawbush, 946 F. 2d
at 586. In a simlar vein, our court held in United States V.
Lara, 975 F.2d 1120, 1127-1128 (5th Gr. 1992), that a district
court's upward departure under section 5K2.3 was not justified by
the findings of a PSI which contained only conclusory statenents
concerni ng psychological harmto the victim

In our case, however, unlike either Fawbush or Lara, the
district court had before it a detailed letter from the victim
describing the events in question and their significant effects on
her life. This |etter denonstrates substantial changes in Caveny's
psychol ogi cal and behavioral functioning. None of this was
rebutted. While sone testinony by a counselor or other expert in

psychol ogy woul d certainly be of value in determning this issue,
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such evidence is not always a prerequisite for a section 5K2.3
departure. See, e.g., United States v. MIller, 993 F.2d 16, 21
(2nd Cir. 1993) (affirmng section 5K2.3 departure wthout
requi ring expert testinony).

Acknow edgi ng that this particular i ssue presents a very cl ose
question, we ultimtely conclude that the district court acted
wthin its discretion in departing upward on the basis of the
psychol ogical injury. W are supported in this determ nation by
the last ground for departure, the hei nousness of the defendants
conduct, which provides strong grounds for departure.

The gquidelines permt an wupward departure "[i]f the
defendant's conduct was wunusually heinous, cruel, brutal, or
degrading to the victim . . . . Exanpl es of extrene conduct
include torture of a victim gratuitous infliction of injury, or
prol onging of pain or humliation." US S. G 8§ 5K2.8, p.s. The
events in question provide such an exanpl e of unusual Il y hei nous and
degradi ng conduct. Over the course of tw days, Caveny was
repeatedly raped and forced to engage in oral and anal sex, which
is unusually cruel and degrading. The defendants threatened to
kill her and described to her, not only tales of others they had
killed, but also what they would do with her to destroy any
evidence. The district court clearly did not abuse its discretion
in determ ning that the defendants had exhi bited unusual | y hei nous
and degradi ng conduct under section 5K2. 8.

Al t hough not always the case, here the heinousness of the
conduct is in sone respects the other side of the sane coin as the

victims psychological harm and the outrageousness of the
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def endants' actions in turn supports the district court's departure
on the psychological injury grounds. Ohe may infer sone
psychol ogi cal harmto Caveny from the conduct of the defendants;
and, the repeated rapes and threats of death give concrete
substance to Caveny's unrebutted clains of psychol ogical injury.
I n these circunstances, because the defendants' conduct was extrene
for sexual abuse offenses, the district court could concl ude that
Caveny's psychol ogi cal harmwas al so greater than that suffered by
nost victins of sexual abuse.?!’

The district court was clearly within its discretion in
departing from the guidelines on the basis of the defendants'
extrenme conduct.

Concl usi on

The district court properly considered the sexual abuse of
Caveny in sentencing Anderson and Barnett. The court correctly
applied the kidnapping gquideline and properly enhanced that
section's offense | evel by reference to the guideline for crimnal
sexual abuse. The four-1level upward departure was reasonabl e, and
the district court's justifications for the departure were well -
founded by the defendants' conduct and the psychol ogical harm
inflicted on their victim

The convictions and sentences of Anderson and Barnett are

AFFI RVED.

17 In deciding this issue, we neasure the psychological harmto
Caveny agai nst that suffered by victins of "ordinary" sexual
abuse crinmes; our standard is not what psychol ogical injury would
be considered the normal result of extrenme sexual abuse and

rel ated conduct such as that exhibited by defendants.
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